No. 44813-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BENJAMIN THOMAS,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE  
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,  
PIERCE COUNTY

---

The Honorable Frank Cuthbertson, Judge

---

*OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT*

---

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879  
Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE  
Post Office Box 31017  
Seattle, Washington 98103  
(206) 782-3353

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred as a matter of law in failing to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) when imposing legal financial obligations.
2. Appellant Benjamin Thomas assigns error to the boilerplate “finding” pre-printed on the judgment and sentence which provided:

ABILITY TO PAY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS. The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant’s past, present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant’s financial resources and the likelihood the defendant’s status will change. The court finds that the defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein. RCW 9.94A.753.

CP 238-39.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Under RCW 10.01.160(3), did the trial court err as a matter of law in failing to determine the defendant’s actual ability to pay and the potential effect of the imposition of several thousand dollars of costs on the indigent defendant before imposing legal financial obligations?
2. Does a pre-printed “finding” entered in every case satisfy the requirement of amounting to an actual finding relative to the specific situation of the individual defendant?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Benjamin Thomas was charged by information with first-degree assault with a deadly weapon enhancement. CP 1-2; RCW 9A.36.011(1)(a); RCW 9.94A.530; RCW 9.94A.533; RCW 9.94A.825. Pretrial proceedings were held on January 4, February 1 and 8, 2013, after which trial was held before the Honorable Judge Frank Cuthbertson on

February 25, 26, 27, March 4, 5 and 6, 2013.<sup>1</sup> The deadly weapon enhancement was not submitted to the jury, and Thomas was not found guilty of first-degree assault but was found guilty of the lesser offense of second-degree assault. CP 108-10.

On April 19, 2013, Judge Cuthbertson ordered Thomas to serve a standard-range sentence. CP 238-49; RP 416. Thomas appealed and this pleading follows. See RP 231.

2. Testimony at trial

On June 21, 2011, there was an altercation at a bar where some men were playing - or “shooting” - pool. Greg Mitchell, who was injured during the incident, said he had played four games of pool that night against Benjamin Thomas, whom Mitchell had seen before but did not really know. RP 21-27.

Mitchell said Thomas was talking “smack,” heckling Mitchell and saying he was going to beat Mitchell’s “ass” in pool. RP 25-27. Mitchell denied, however, taking part in the bluster. RP 21-28. Instead, Mitchell said he told Thomas to “chill out” and it was just a game. RP 28-29. Mitchell thought Thomas appeared intoxicated, because Thomas was talking “loud” and seemed to be sort of slurring his speech. RP 29-30.

According to Mitchell, the altercation started when Thomas was

---

<sup>1</sup>The verbatim report of proceedings will be referred to as follows:  
the volume containing the proceedings of January 1, 2013, as “1RP;”  
February 1, 2013, as “2RP;”  
February 8, as “3RP;”  
the chronologically paginated volumes containing the proceedings of February 25-27, March 4-6 and April 19, 2013, as “RP;”  
the closing argument of March 5, 2013, as “4RP;”  
a sentencing continuance on April 5, 2013, as “5RP.”

sitting at the bar drinking and “antagonizing” Mitchell. RP 30-31.

Mitchell, who was holding a pool cue, took a step towards Thomas. RP 30-32. Thomas suddenly got up of the stool and swung, hitting Mitchell on the side of the face with a water glass. RP 30-32. Mitchell then tried to hit Thomas with the pool stick but the “bouncer” for the bar stopped him. RP 32.

Mitchell was taken to a hospital and had to have stitches. RP 32-42. A doctor testified that Mitchell had complex facial lacerations. RP 88-89. For his part, Thomas also went to an emergency room, where he was treated for a cut to his right palm. RP 231-36. The person who treated him said Thomas claimed he had injured it while cutting a fish. RP 231-36.

Mitchell claimed he did not threaten Thomas that night. RP 42. Mitchell admitted, however, that when he took that step towards Thomas, it was because Mitchell wanted to stop Thomas and make him shut up. RP 50-51.

The bartender said Thomas was not normally “rowdy” although he thought Thomas did sometimes have a loud mouth. RP 99-111. That night, the bartender did not see what happened but he recalled that Mitchell had at one point asked if Thomas always talked “smack” like he was doing with Mitchell and the bartender had nodded. RP 110-22. The bartender said Mitchell seemed clearly annoyed. RP 123.

Another person on a pool team with Mitchell admitted that Mitchell would actually “talk a lot of trash” when playing pool. RP 127-28, 32-33. A woman who worked there, Brittany Berry, confirmed that

“[a]ll the guys talk crap” when playing pool. RP 150.

Another woman who was there that night and knew both men disputed Mitchell’s claim that he was not also “talking mess,” saying she heard Mitchell doing so. RP 243-45. It got kind of loud between them and seemed heated. RP 246. After the incident, that woman was outside and saw Thomas there, bleeding from his hand. RP 247-48. She heard the bouncer then tell Thomas he needed to leave. RP 247-48.

Sylvia Lewis, who was there as a patron but worked at the bar, saw Thomas outside bleeding after the incident. RP 173. Thomas was not angry or yelling or anything but just appeared to be in shock about what had occurred. RP 186-87.

A videotape taken from the surveillance camera in the bar that night was played. RP 284-86.

The officer who interrogated Thomas after the incident said Thomas admitted he was drinking and heckling people. RP 297-99. Thomas also told the officer that he thought Mitchell was coming to hit him so he reacted and hit Mitchell first. RP 300-301.

Benjamin Thomas testified that he was shooting pool and talking “smack” to everyone that night. RP 340-41. He explained that he and Mitchell had been going back and forth and, when Mitchell started towards him, it appeared that Mitchell was going to attack. RP 342. Mitchell was coming at him “fast” and had a pool stick in his hand. RP 356. Thomas just reacted, trying to protect himself, standing up swinging. RP 342. Afterwards, when Thomas had been told to leave, he drove to a nearby Denny’s, but some bikers came up and boxed in his car. RP 346,



369-70.

Pamela Smith, the friend who came to pick Thomas up, saw the biker guys and the situation when she arrived. RP 239-41.

Thomas said he told the emergency room that he had cut his hand while slicing a fish because he was worried the bikers might be associated with Mitchell and thought they might come after him. RP 231-56.

D. ARGUMENT

THE SENTENCING COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO  
COMPLY WITH STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS IN  
IMPOSING LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

The authority to order the defendant in a criminal case to pay court costs is wholly statutory. See State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 918, 829 P.2d 166 (1992); RCW 9.94A.760. In this case, this Court should reverse the sentencing court's order that Mr. Thomas, who is indigent, pay legal financial obligations of \$2300, because that order was not entered in compliance with statutory requirements.

a. Relevant facts

At sentencing, the prosecutor asked the court to impose a number of "legal financial obligations" against Mr. Thomas, as follows:

[T]he State asks the Court to impose \$500 for crime victim penalty assessment, \$200 court costs. Because this matter went to trial, it would be a \$1500 DAC recoupment and \$100 DNA sample fee[.]

RP 411. In imposing the sentence, the court followed the prosecutor's recommendations and ordered Thomas to pay the requested costs. RP 415-16.

In a pre-printed portion of the judgment and sentence, the

document provided:

ABILITY TO PAY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS. The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's past, present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood the defendant's status will change. The court finds that the defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein. RCW 9.94A.753.

CP 240-41. Boilerplate language also imposed interest "from the date of the judgment until payment in full." CP 241.

b. The sentencing court acted outside its statutory authority in ordering the costs

This Court should vacate the imposition of costs and interest in this case, because the sentencing court acted outside its statutory authority in ordering Mr. Thomas to pay these costs.

Under RCW 10.01.160(1), a trial court can order a defendant convicted of a felony to repay court costs as a part of a judgment and sentence. Another subsection of the same statute, however, prohibits a court from entering such an order without first considering the defendant's specific financial situation. RCW 10.01.160(3) provides:

The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.

RCW 10.01.160(3).

In this case, the lower court did not make any specific findings that Mr. Thomas, who was indigent, "is or will be able" to pay the \$2300 (plus interest) before ordering him to do so. See CP 238-49. Instead, the only such alleged "finding" was the pre-printed "boilerplate" finding,

apparently included on every judgment and sentence in the county. See CP 238-39.

That finding, however, does not withstand review. A finding of fact must be supported by “substantial evidence in the record.” See State v. Echevarria, 85 Wn. App. 777, 782, 934 P.2d 1214 (1997). “Substantial evidence” is evidence sufficient to convince a rational, fair-minded trier of fact of the truth of the declared premise. Id. There is no evidence whatsoever that the court “considered the total amount owing, the defendant’s past, present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant’s financial resources and the likelihood the defendant’s status will change” before entering the costs. Nor was there anything in the record showing an ability or likely future ability to pay.

“boilerplate” finding is not evidence that the trial court actually gave independent thought and consideration to the facts of the particular case. See, e.g., Dependency of K.N.J., 171 Wn.2d 568, 257 P.3d 522 (2011). Indeed, there is not even a “box” next to the preprinted language for the judge to “check off” if she makes the relevant finding in the particular case - the “boilerplate” finding is presumptively entered in *every* case, regardless of the evidence or circumstances involved.

Thus, the “boilerplate” language did not amount to a proper finding by the court sufficient to show compliance with the mandates of RCW 10.01.160(3). See, e.g., State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404 n. 13, 267 P.3d 511 (2011), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1014 (2012). And while the Supreme Court has held that there is no constitutional requirement that

a court enter formal, specific findings regarding ability to pay, where, as here, an unnecessary finding is made in “boilerplate” language, that “finding” is subject to this Court’s scrutiny. See Curry, 118 Wn.2d at 918; Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. at 404 n. 13. The trial court’s “boilerplate” “finding,” included by virtue of being in the judgment and sentence in every case, was unsupported by the record and wholly improper.

There was thus no true finding or consideration under RCW 10.01.160(3) before imposition of the costs in this case. Further, because interest is already running and accruing against Thomas he is already suffering from the improper order.

It is important to remember that recoupment of costs against an indigent defendant are only constitutional when the trial court is required to consider ability to pay and if the procedures for modification of the obligation exist for those who cannot pay. See State v. Blank, 131 Wn.2d 230, 237, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997) (RCW 10.73 provision for appellate costs). In Blank, the failure to include a pre-imposition consideration of ability to pay was upheld because the defendant might later acquire the means to pay but could raise an objection to enforcement later based on inability to pay and/or ask for “remission” of those costs later. 131 Wn.2d at 242-43. And the Supreme Court specifically required that “ability to pay (and other financial considerations) must be inquired into before enforced payment or imposition of sanctions for nonpayment” and relied on the remission procedures in concluding that RCW 10.73.160 was not unconstitutional. 131 Wn.2d at 246-47.

Now, however, we know that, in fact, the remission process is

broken, as are many of the protections detailed in Blank. The imposition of costs and their substantial impact on the lives of indigents has recently been detailed at length by the ACLU, which discovered that lower courts in this state are requiring people to give up public assistance and other public monies given to cover their basic needs and even imprisoning poor people for failure to pay on such debt. *See* ACLU/Columbia Legal Services Report: Modern-Day Debtors’ Prisons: The Ways Court-Imposed Debts Punish People for Being Poor (February 2014).<sup>2</sup>

Similarly, a study from the Washington State Minority and Justice Commission examined the impact of such costs, finding that the imposition of them reduces income, worsens credit ratings, makes it more difficult to secure stable house, hinders “efforts to obtain employment, education, and occupational training” and has other serious effects “which in turn prevents people from restoring their civil rights” and becoming full members of society. *See* Washington State Minority and Justice Commission, *The Assessment and Consequences of Legal Financial Obligations in Washington State* (2008).<sup>3</sup>

Further, once such an order is entered, the defendant may be subject to arrest for failure to pay and is immediately liable not only for the amount ordered but also to pay the astronomical interest rate of 12%. See RCW 10.82.090.

In response, the prosecution may attempt to prevent this Court

---

<sup>2</sup>Available at [aclu-wa-org/news/report-exposes-modern-day-debtors-prisons-washington](http://aclu-wa-org/news/report-exposes-modern-day-debtors-prisons-washington).

<sup>3</sup>Available at [http://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/pdf/2008LFO\\_report.pdf](http://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/pdf/2008LFO_report.pdf).

from addressing this issue by claiming it was “waived” as it was not raised below. Any such effort should fail. It is well-settled that, where a court acts without statutory authority in ordering a sentence, that issue may be raised for the first time on appeal. See State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 427, 477-78, 973 P.2d 452 (1999); State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744, 193 P.3d 678 (2008).

A similar issue is currently before the Supreme Court in State v. Blazina, 174 Wn. App. 906, 301 P.3d 492, review granted, 178 Wn.2d 1010 (2013). In Blazina, as here, the defendant did not object to the trial court’s failure to comply with the requirements of RCW 10.01.160. In addition, while it is not on review, this Court has recently held, in State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 108, 308 P.3d 755 (2013), that a lower court order imposing legal financial obligations is not “ripe for review” until the prosecution tries to enforce them, as Division One held in State v. Calvin, 176 Wn. App. 1, 302 P.3d 509 (2013) (as amended 10/22/13), review granted, \_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_ (2014) (currently stayed pending Blazina).

Regarding the latter issue, however, our courts have repeatedly held that a defendant may challenge sentencing rulings for the first time on appeal when the ruling in question is in violation of statutory requirements. See, e.g., State v. Paine, 69 Wn. App. 873, 884, 850 P.2d 1369, review denied, 122 Wn.2d 1024 (1993) (“when a sentencing court acts without statutory authority in imposing a sentence, the error can be addressed for the first time on appeal”). And the Supreme Court has rejected the idea that challenges to sentencing conditions are not “ripe” where, as here, the issues are primarily legal, do not require further factual

development and involve a final decision of the court. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 751. Here, the order of costs is immediately enforceable as of the day of its entry and starts gathering interest upon that date and the issue is legal - did the trial court act outside its statutory authority in ordering costs? No further factual development or proceedings are required for that question to be answered by this Court.

Notably, in its decision in Calvin, Division One focused solely on whether there was a *factual* issue with the trial court's decision below, finding that the failure to identify such a dispute below had waived the issue on appeal. The issue here, however, is legal - did the trial court act outside its statutory authority in failing to comply with RCW 10.01.060 in imposing the discretionary legal financial obligations. The question of whether a court acts outside its statutory authority is reviewed de novo, as it is a matter of law. See, State v. Burns, 159 Wn. App. 74, 77, 244 P.3d 988 (2010).

RCW 10.01.160(3) mandates that a court "shall not order a defendant to pay costs" unless and until the court finds the defendant "is or will be able to pay them," and further that the court "shall" take the defendant's financial resources and the nature of the financial burden into account before imposing it. Here, the state provided no evidence establishing Thomas' ability to pay, nor did it ask to have the trial court make any determination under RCW 10.01.160 in asking for imposition of the costs, although Thomas was represented by appointed counsel. This Court should hold that the trial court failed to comply with statutory requirements in imposing the discretionary costs for attorney's fees in this

case, and should reverse.

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, this Court should strike the order of costs against Mr. Thomas, as those costs were imposed without statutory authority.