# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

# BENJAMIN THOMAS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Frank Cuthbertson, Judge

No. 11-1-02866-8

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By
JASON RUYF
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

# **

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

#### C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

1. THIS COURT SHOULD REJECT DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE TO THE IMPOSITION OF LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS BECAUSE IT WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL, IS NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW, AND FAILS ON ITS MERITS.

The sentencing court's authority to impose court costs and fees is statutory. *See State v. Hathaway*, 161 Wn. App. 634, 652, 251 P.3d 253 (2011). While the question of whether a trial court had statutory authority to impose legal financial obligations (LFOs) is reviewed *de novo*, the court's determination of a defendant's ability to pay discretionary LFOs is reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *See State v. Smith*, 119 Wn.2d 385, 389, 831 P.2d 1082 (1992); *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404 n. 13, 267 P.3d 511 (2011) (citing *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. 303, 312, 818 P.2d 1116, 837 P.2d 646 (1992)), *review denied*, 175 Wn.2d 1014 (2012). Such findings are only clearly erroneous when a review of all the evidence results in a definite conviction a mistake has been made. *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 105, 308 P.3d 755 (2013).

In this case, the sentencing hearing occurred on April 19, 2013, before the Honorable Frank Cuthbertson. 7 RP 402. The State requested the court to impose the mandatory \$500 crime victim penalty assessment, \$200 court costs, and \$100 DNA sample fee, as well as a discretionary

sum of \$1,500 for DAC recoupment. 7 RP 411. The court followed the State's recommendation and imposed a total of \$2,300 in LFOs. 7 RP 415; CP 240. Paragraph 2.5 of defendant's judgment and sentence contains the following, standard form language finding of defendant's ability to pay LFOs:

This court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's past, present, and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. The court finds that the defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein.

CP 240. Defendant did not object to the imposition of LFOs or offer any information contradicting the court's assessment of his ability to pay. 7 RP 411-17.

There is no evidence the State has attempted to collect LFOs from defendant. Nor does the record indicate an express payment commencement date.

## a. The issue is not ripe for review.

The time to challenge an order establishing LFOs that does not limit a defendant's liberty is when the State attempts to curtail a defendant's liberty by enforcing them. *Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. at 108; *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 310; *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 523–524, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009); *see also State v. Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 242, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997). The time to examine a defendant's ability to pay

costs is when the government seeks to collect the obligation because the determination of whether the defendant either has or will have the ability to pay is clearly somewhat speculative. *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 311; *see also State v. Crook*, 146 Wn. App. 24, 27, 189 P.3d 811 (2008). A defendant's indigent status at the time of sentencing does not bar an award of costs. *Id.* Likewise, the proper time for findings "is the point of collection and when sanctions are sought for nonpayment." *Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 241–242.

Nothing in the record indicates the State has sought to collect costs from defendant or when defendant is expected to begin payment.

Compare with *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404-405, 267 P.3d 511 (2011) (reviewing the merits of the trial court's sentencing conditions because a disabled defendant was ordered to commence payment of LFOs within 60 days of entry of judgment and sentence while still incarcerated). The time to challenge the costs is at the time the State seeks to collect them because while the defendant may or may not have assets at this time, the defendant's future ability to pay is speculative. In addition, the defendant can take advantage of the protections provided by statute at the time the State seeks to collect the costs and petition the court to modify the

costs imposed. RCW 10.01.160(4).<sup>2</sup> Therefore, defendant's challenge to the imposed LFOs is not ripe for review.

#### b. The issue was not preserved for appeal.

RAP 2.5(a) grants the Appellate Court discretion in refusing to review claims of error not raised at the trial court level. RAP 2.5(a) also provides three circumstances in which an appellant may raise an issue for the first time on appeal: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, or (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *Id.* This Court has consistently declined to allow a defendant to challenge the imposition of legal financial obligations for the first time on appeal. E.g., *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 911, 301 P.3d 492 (2013), *rev. granted*, *State v. Blazina*, Wn.2d 1010, 311 P.3d 27 (2013).

Defendant did not object to the imposition of LFOs at trial. 7 RP 411-417. Nor did he claim any of the three circumstances listed under RAP 2.5(a) in which an issue could be raised for the first time on appeal. "The purpose underlying issue preservation rules is to encourage the efficient use of judicial resources by ensuring that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RCW 10.01.160(4): A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs or of any unpaid portion thereof. If it appears to the satisfaction of the court that payment of the amount due will impose manifest hardship on the defendant or the defendant's immediate family, the court may remit all or part of the amount due in costs, or modify the method of payment under RCW 10.01.170.

State v. Hamilton, 179 Wn. App. 870, 878, 320 P.3d 142 (2014). Allowing defendant to challenge the LFOs for the first time on appeal would undermine that purpose since the trial court was better situated to resolve disagreements about defendant's ability to pay. Both defendant and his counsel were given an opportunity to allocute at sentencing; neither objected to the imposition of LFOs. Judicial resources should not be wasted because defendant did not bother to raise the issue below. His unpreserved challenge to the lawfully imposed LFOs should be rejected without review.

c. The trial court acted within its statutory authority when it imposed LFOs on defendant.

Sentencing courts are vested with statutory authority to impose court costs and fees on convicted defendants. A number of LFOs are mandatory. *See e.g.*, RCW 7.68.035(1)(a) (crime victim assessment fee). The court may also impose discretionary fines pursuant to RCW 10.01.160.

On appeal, defendant argues the sentencing court acted outside its statutory authority in ordering defendant to pay \$2300 in LFOs. Br.App. 6. Yet, defendant fails to make the necessary distinction between

mandatory and discretionary LFOs. The trial court's imposition of restitution was not challenged. Br.App. 5.<sup>3</sup>

 Defendant's meritless claim the trial court abused its discretion by imposing mandatory fines should be rejected.

It is mandatory for the court to impose the following LFOs whenever a defendant is convicted of a felony: a criminal filing fee, a crime victim assessment fee, and a DNA database fee. RCW 36.18.020(h)<sup>4</sup>; RCW 7.68.035<sup>5</sup>; RCW 43.43.754; RCW 43.43.7541<sup>7</sup>. The court is also mandated by statute to impose restitution whenever the defendant is convicted of an offense that results in injury to any person. RCW 9.94A.753(5); *State v. Griffith*, 164 Wn.2d 960, 965, 195 P.3d 506 (2006).

Mandatory financial obligations are required by statute and do not permit the trial court to consider the offender's past, present, or future

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The \$2,300 of LFOs challenged by defendant is the sum total of the fees and costs listed in the judgment and sentence, and does not include the restitution which is listed as "TBD." CP 240.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RCW 36.18.020(1): Clerks of superior courts shall collect the following fees for their official services: . . . (h) Upon conviction or plea of guilty . . . a defendant in a criminal case shall be liable for a fee of two hundred dollars.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> RCW 7.68.035(1)(a): When any person is found guilty in any superior court of having committed a crime . . . there shall be imposed by the court upon such convicted person a penalty assessment. The assessment . . . shall be five hundred dollars for each case or cause of action that includes one or more convictions of a felony . . .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RCW 43.43.754(1) A biological sample must be collected for purposes of DNA identification analysis from: (a) Every adult . . . convicted of a felony . . .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> RCW 43.43.7541: Every sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 must include a fee of one hundred dollars.

ability to pay. *Lundy*, 176 Wn. App at 102; *State v. Kuster*, 175 Wn. App 420, 424, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013). Mandatory obligations are constitutional as long as "there are sufficient safeguards in the current sentencing scheme to prevent *imprisonment* of indigent defendants." *State v. Curry*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 918, 829 P.2d 166 (1992) (emphasis in original).

Defendant was convicted of assault in the second degree, a class B felony. RCW 9A.36.021. Thus, the trial court properly imposed the \$800 in mandatory fees, including the \$500 crime victim assessment fee, the \$100 DNA database fee, and the \$200 criminal filing fee as required by statute. As a result, the review on appeal only concerns the discretionary imposition of the \$1500 DAC recoupment.

ii. Defendant's meritless challenge to the properly imposed discretionary LFOs should also be rejected.

RCW 10.01.160 authorizes the sentencing court to require a convicted defendant to pay court costs and other assessments incurred in prosecuting the defendant:

The court may require a defendant to pay costs. Costs may be imposed only upon a convicted defendant, except for costs imposed upon a defendant's entry into a deferred prosecution program, costs imposed upon a defendant for pretrial supervision, or costs imposed upon a defendant for preparing and serving a warrant for failure to appear.

RCW 10.01.160(2). The imposition of these costs is a factual matter within the trial court's discretion. *Curry*, 62 Wn.2d at 916; *State v. Calvin*, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_\_, 316 P.3d 496 (2013).

Before imposing discretionary LFOs, the trial court is required to consider a defendant's ability to pay:

The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.

RCW 10.01.160(3).

Although a formal finding of a defendant's ability to pay is unnecessary, where such a finding is made, it is reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *Lundy*, 308 P.3d at 760; *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 312. "A finding of fact is clearly erroneous when, although there is some evidence to support it, review of all the evidence leads to a 'definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed.' " *Schryvers v. Coulee Cmty. Hosp.*, 138 Wn. App 648, 654, 158 P.3d 113 (2007) (quoting *Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan County*, 141 Wn.2d 169, 176, 4 P.3d 123 (2000)).

In this case, the trial court imposed a \$1500 discretionary fee pursuant to RCW 10.01.160 to recoup the costs for defendant's court-appointed attorney and defense, having found in paragraph 2.5 of the judgment and sentence defendant was able to pay for those services. CP 240; RP 415.

The decision to impose recoupment of attorney fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 312. The court must

balance the defendant's ability to pay costs against the burden of his obligation before imposing attorney fees. *Id.* In very limited situations, the court has found the imposition of LFOs was clearly erroneous because the defendant's ability to pay was not supported in the record. *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 267 P.3d 511 (2011) (holding the trial court's finding that defendant, a disabled person, had the present or future ability to pay LFOs was clearly erroneous).

A defendant's poverty does not immunize him from punishment or the requirement to pay legal financial obligations. *Blank*, 131 Wn.2d at 241, quoting *Curry*, 118 Wn.2d at 918. While a court may not incarcerate an offender who truly cannot pay LFOs, every offender must make a good faith effort to satisfy these obligations by seeking employment, borrowing money, or otherwise legally acquiring resources to pay their court ordered financial obligations. *State v. Woodward*, 116 Wn. App. 697, 703-704, P.3d 530 (2003). Furthermore, defendants who claim indigency must do more than plead poverty in general terms when seeking remission or modification of LFOs. *Id.* at 704.

The trial court's finding defendant had the ability to pay the costs of his defense was supported by the evidence adduced at trial.<sup>8</sup> Defendant admitted he used to go to Latitute 84 two to three times a week to shoot

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The Honorable Frank Cuthbertson presided over all proceedings related to this case, including pre-trial, trial, and sentencing proceedings. As a result, he was capable of taking judicial notice of the adjudicative facts adduced at trial in deciding an appropriate sentence. See ER 201.

pool, and have two or three drinks. 5 RP 335-36. Witness Brittany Berry explained defendant was also a patron at Black Star Pub and Grill, where she worked as a bartender. 3 RP 138. Defendant did not claim the imposition of LFOs would be an undue burden on his financial resources or ability to pay living expenses. Furthermore, he possessed the physical capacity to violently assault Mr. Mitchell and regularly play pool. Thus, he demonstrated himself to be an able bodied man with sufficient discretionary income to spend on alcohol and recreation.

Defendant did not present any evidence to call the trial court's well supported finding into question, which is undoubtedly why he rightly does not claim an inability to pay on appeal. As a result, the trial court did not enter findings of any extraordinary circumstances which would make restitution or payment of nonmandatory LFOs inappropriate on the Judgment and Sentence. CP 240. Unlike *Bertrand*, there was no evidence defendant suffered from any mental or physical disabilities which might limit his present or future ability to earn income. *See e.g.*, 165 Wn. App. at 404-05. The absence of such a record renders defendant's citation to the ACLU study on the impact of LFOs on people incapable of providing for life's necessities an irrelevant distraction from the relevant facts and issues of this case.

The finding defendant had the present or likely future ability to pay LFOs was not clearly erroneous because it is was well supported by the uncontroverted evidence adduced at trial. There is no evidence to suggest a mistake was made. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in imposing \$1500 for attorney fee recoupment.

iii. The trial court's well supported finding of defendant's ability to pay was not transformed into a clearly erroneous decision by the mere fact it was communicated through unobjected to standard form language in defendant's J&S.

Neither RCW 10.01.160 "nor the constitution requires a trial court to enter formal, specific findings regarding a defendant's ability to pay court costs." *Curry*, 118 Wn.2d at 916. Under the statute, the trial court must only "take account" of the defendant's ability to pay and the burden that payment of costs will impose. RCW 10.01.160(3). In similar cases, the appellate courts have never found the standard form language finding of defendant's ability to pay LFOs to be clearly erroneous. *See e.g. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. at 108; *Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. at 911; *Calvin*, 316 P.3d at 508. Rather, the courts consistently emphasize the record must be sufficient to review on appeal whether the trial court considered the

defendant's financial resources. *Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. at 404; *Calvin*, 316 P.3d at 508 (noting that "striking the boilerplate finding would not require reversal of the court's discretionary decision unless the record affirmatively showed the defendant had an inability to pay both at present and in the future").

In this case, the inclusion of paragraph 2.5 in the Judgment and Sentence is innocuous because it is supported by the record. It demonstrates the trial court did "take account" of defendant's present or likely future ability to pay LFOs. Since there is no legal requirement for the trial court to enter formal findings, there is nothing improper about its decision to enter a factually supported finding by adopting the language provided in court-approved judgment and sentence document. The court had the authority and opportunity to strike or modify paragraph 2.5 if it was inconsistent with its determination of defendant's ability to pay costs. The unaltered quality of paragraph 2.5 and the absence of an objection or discussion on the record evidences the trial court was convinced defendant had the ability to reimburse the community for the defense it paid for him to receive.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> At worst, the standard form language finding of defendant's ability to pay would be more appropriately placed on a subsequent order to pay than on a judgment and sentence, as noted by this Court in *State v. Lundy*. 176 Wn. App. at 105, n. 7.

Contrary to defendant's negative characterization of paragraph 2.5, in practice, it provides an additional safeguard by ensuring the trial court always considers a defendant's ability to pay. In the absence of a statutory requirement for a formal finding, paragraph 2.5 reminds judges and litigants to take account of the defendant's ability to pay in every case and encourages them to address the issue at the trial court before the judgment and sentence is entered, thereby promoting judicial efficiency.

In this case, paragraph 2.5 reflects the evidence adduced at trial and fulfils the trial court's statutory requirement to consider the defendant's ability to pay LFOs.

## D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>.

The trial court acted within its statutory authority when it ordered defendant to pay \$2300 of mandatory and discretionary LFOs. The issue is not ripe for review because the State has not sought to enforce the order and collect costs from defendant. As defendant did not object to the imposition of LFOs at trial, the issue was not preserved for review. Furthermore, the trial court did not clearly err in finding the defendant had

the present or future ability to pay his LFOs and did not abuse its discretion in imposing \$1500 of discretionary attorney's fees.

DATED: September 12, 2014.

MARK LINDQUIST

Pierce County

Prosecuting Attorney

JASON RUYF

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

WSB # 38725

Maria Hoisington Legal Intern